





## Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Project

# Delaware Health Status Report for Persons with Disabilities



prepared for

Division of Developmental Disabilities Services Delaware Health and Social Services

by the

Center for Disabilities Studies University of Delaware Newark, Delaware 19716

June 2007



Center for Disabilities Studies University of Delaware 461 Wyoming Road • Newark, DE 19716 (302) 831-6974 • (302) 831-4689 TDD www.udel.edu/cds



Division of Developmental Disabilities Services Delaware Health and Social Services 24-Hour Toll Free Contact Number 1-866-552-5758 www.dhss.delaware.gov/dhss/ddds/

### Delaware Health Status Report for Adults with Disabilities

prepared for

Division of Developmental Disabilities Services Delaware Health and Social Services

by the

Center for Disabilities Studies University of Delaware Newark, Delaware 19716

June 2007



### Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Project Advisory Panel

## Many thanks to all members of the Advisory Panel who served from 2005-2007. Without their support and input the Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Project could not have been as successful.

Becky Allen, The Arc of Delaware	Deb Jastrebski, Practice Without Pressure
Celeste Anderson, Division of Management Services	Thomas Kelly, Division of Developmental Disabilities Services
Carol Barnett, Division of Services for Aging and Adults with Physical	Joseph Keyes, Division of Developmental Disabilities Services
Disabilities	Lora Lewis, Division of Public Health
Lou Bartoshesky, Alfred I. duPont Hospital for Children	HarrietAnn Litwin, Division of Vocational Rehabilitation
Linda Brennan-Jones, Christiana Care	Jay Lynch, Delaware Health and Social Services
Fred Breukelman, Division of Public Health	Pat Maichle, Developmental Disabilities Council
Azalia Briggs, Self-Advocate, Governor's Advisory Panel for Division	Miranda Marquez, Department of Labor
of Services for Aging and Adults with Physical Disabilities	Walt Mateja, Division of Public Health
Jon Buzby, Special Olympics Delaware	Helen McDonnell, Division of Substance Abuse and Mental Health
Jan Capano, Parent, Stockley Center Parent Association	Daniese McMullin-Powell, ADAPT Delaware
Mark Chamberlin, Department of Education	Betzi Medis-Canard, Self-Advocate
Jacqueline Christman, Division of Public Health	Karen Michel, Division for the Visually Impaired
Alice Coleman, Division of Substance Abuse and Mental Health	Heidi Mizell, Parent, Autism Society of Delaware
Diann Collins, Parent, MetLife	Chris Oakes, Division of Services for Aging and Adults with Physical
Steven Dettwyler, Division of Substance Abuse and Mental Health	Disabilities
Doyle Dobbins, DelARF	Laveida Owens-White, Christiana Care
Joyce Edwards, Practice Without Pressure	Jan Penoza, CONTACT Delaware
Adam Fisher, Department of Education	Scott Phillips, Division of Developmental Disabilities Services
Amy Forrest, Self-Advocate, Division for the Visually Impaired	Gloria Price, Self-Advocate, Delaware Amputee Support Group
Karen Gallagher, Self-Advocate, Developmental Disabilities Council	Alisha Raiford-Hall, Division of Developmental Disabilities Services
Michael Gamel-McCormick, Center for Disabilities Studies	Nancy Ranalli, Easter Seals of Delaware & Maryland's Eastern Shore
Mawuna Gardesey, Division of Public Health	Ilka Riddle, Center for Disabilities Studies
Vickie George, Self-Advocate, Yes You Can™	Al Rose, Developmental Disabilities Council
Lisa Gilman, Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research	Patty Shockley, Division of Developmental Disabilities Services
Bob Goodhart, Division for the Visually Impaired	Paulette Smith, Self-Advocate, Breathe for Life
Rosanne Griff-Cabelli, Division of Management Services	Beverly Stapleford, Center for Disabilities Studies
Brian Hartman, Disability Law Program	Wendy Strauss, Governor's Advisory Council for Exceptional
Charlotte Herbert, Lower Delaware Autism Foundation	Citizens
Linda Heller, Division of Services for Aging and Adults with Physical	Kathy Stroh, Division of Public Health
Disabilities	Annie Tanverdi, Center for Disabilities Studies
Larry Henderson, Independent Resources, Inc.	Brian Whittaker, Self-Advocate
Kyle Hodges, State Council for Persons with Disabilities	Jamie Wolfe, Self-Advocate, Center for Disabilities Studies
Tony Horstman, Parent, State Council for Persons with Disabilities	Jin Wu, Center for Disabilities Studies
Ray Hunt Independent Resources Inc	



### Acknowledgements

Many thanks to Thomas Kelly and Alisha Raiford-Hall from the Division of Developmental Disabilities Services, Delaware Health and Social Services for managing the Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 project and contributing to the report, Lisa Gilman from the Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research at the University of Delaware for data analysis, Annie Tanverdi, Erin Venturato, Jin Wu, Tracy Mann, Jim Salt, Beverly Stapleford, and Michael Gamel-McCormick from the Center for Disabilities Studies at the University of Delaware for assistance with collecting and entering data and help with editing and formatting the final report. In addition, we would like to thank all the dedicated interviewers and all the participants who were willing to complete the survey.

The project was managed and coordinated by the Division of Developmental Disabilities Services from Delaware Health and Social Services. If you are interested in more information about this project, contact Thomas Kelly, MD, MPH, BSN at (302) 744-9600 or thomas.kelly@state.de.us, or Alisha Raiford-Hall at (302) 369-2186 ext. 255 or alisha.raifordhall@state.de.us.

This project and the information provided in this report was supported by Grant/Cooperative Agreement Number U59/CCU324600-01, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities. The content of this report is the responsibility of the author and does not necessarily represent the views of the CDC.

This report was authored by Ilka K. Riddle, PhD, Project Coordinator, Center for Disabilities Studies, University of Delaware.

### Delaware Health Status Report



4

## Table of Contents

Advisory Panel Members	2
Acknowledgements	3
List of Tables & Figures	5
Some Facts about Delaware	6
Executive Summary	7
Introduction	13
Purpose of the Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Project	15
Mission of the Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Project	15
Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities Project Goals 2010 Project	15
Methodology	17
Reason for Survey	18
Preparation for Study	18
Survey Participants	19
Data Collection	19
Data Analysis	20
Challenges and Strengths	20
Health, Wellness & Lifestyle Findings	23
Demographic Information	24
Disability Status	24
County, Gender, Race/Ethnicity, and Age	25
Education, Employment, and Income	26
General Health and Secondary Health Conditions	28
Health Status	28
Secondary Health Conditions	29
Lifestyle and Preventative Health Care	32
Preventative Health Care and Access to Care	32
Preventative Men's and Women's Health	34
Diet and Exercise Habits	37
Smoking and Drinking Habits	39
Sexual Activity	40
Sexual Assault	41
Wellness	44
Satisfaction with Life and Social-Emotional Wellbeing	44
Thinking About Disability	46
Perceptions About How One Was Treated By Others	47
Care Needs	48
Care Needs	48
Equipment	50
Caregiver Needs	
	50
Caregiver Demographics	50 50
Caregiver Demographics Caregiver Challenges	50 50 51
Caregiver Demographics Caregiver Challenges Recommendations.	50 50 51 53

## • List of Tables & Figures

### Tables

Table I. Demographic characteristics of survey respondents, by primary disability	26
Table 2. Preventative health care among survey respondents	35
Table 3. Eating habits, physical activity levels, and weight issues of survey respondents, by primary disability	
Table 4. Overall mood during the past 30 days among survey respondents	46
Table 5. Survey respondents' perceptions of how they were treated at work or when seeking health care	47
Table 6. Frequency in which survey respondents experienced physical symptoms or emotional upset as a	
result of how they were treated in the past year	48

### Figures

Figure 1. Primary disability of the Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Project Health Risks Survey sample	24
Figure 2. Primary disability as reported by respondents in the BRFSS sample who disclosed that they had a disability	25
Figure 3. Percent of survey respondents reporting annual household income less than \$25,000, by primary disability	
Figure 4. Perceived health status of survey respondents	
Figure 5. Self-reported health status of survey respondents, by primary disability	
Figure 6. Secondary health conditions of survey respondents	
Figure 7. Comparison of percent of high cholesterol and high blood pressure rates in the general Delaware	
population and Delawareans who participated in the HDWD survey	
Figure 8. Comparison of percent of arthritis rates in the general Delaware population and Delawareans	
who participated in the HDWD survey	31
Figure 9. Comparison of percent of diabetes rates in the general Delaware population and Delawareans	
who participated in the HDWD survey	31
Figure 10. Barriers encountered by survey respondents when trying to see a doctor or other health care	
provider in the past year	32
Figure 11. Types of challenges encountered among survey respondents when seeking health care in the past year	
Figure 12. Preventative dental care of survey respondents	33
Figure 13. Percent of survey respondents who have ever had a sigmoidoscopy or colonoscopy	36
Figure 14. Smoking status and alcohol consumption among survey respondents	
Figure 15. Percent of survey respondents who engaged in sexual activity in the past year, by primary disability	40
Figure 16. Percent of survey respondents who used a condom during their last sexual encounter and the reason(s) who	hy41
Figure 17. Percent of survey respondents who have been a victim of sexual assault or attempted sexual	
assault in their lifetime, by gender	
Figure 18. Percent of survey respondents who have been a victim of sexual assault or attempted sexual assault	
in their lifetime, by primary disability	43
Figure 19. Relationship of perpetrator to survey respondent reporting that someone had sex or attempted	
to have sex with them without their consent in the past year	43
Figure 20. Life satisfaction among survey respondents, by primary disability	
Figure 21. Frequency of social and emotional support received by survey respondents	45
Figure 22. Percent of survey respondents who think about their disability at least once a day, by primary disability	46
Figure 23. Percent of survey respondents who received help with personal and routine care, by primary disability	49
Figure 24. Survey respondents' perception of what they need the most help with	49
Figure 25. Current requirements for the use of special equipment, by primary disability	50
Figure 26. Relationship of person who assists survey respondent needing personal assistance	51
Figure 27. Greatest difficulties reported by caregivers of survey respondents	51

## Some Facts about Delaware

Delaware, the "First State," is the second smallest state in the United States with a total area of 1,982 square miles. The current Delaware population is estimated at 843,524, which makes it the seventh least populated state, including the District of Columbia.<sup>1</sup> Located on the Eastern Seaboard of the United States, Delaware has shores on the Atlantic Ocean and Delaware Bay. Delaware also borders New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and Maryland. The state motto is "Liberty and Independence."

Delaware is a diverse state. The median age is 37.9 years and 51.5% of the population is



female. Delaware's racial-ethnic composition is 73.6% Caucasian, 19.9% African American, and 6.1% Hispanic/Latino. Almost 15% of the population five years of age and older has one or more disabilities.<sup>2</sup>

Delaware consists of three counties: New Castle, Kent, and Sussex. Most of the population of the state lives in New Castle County (73.9%), while 14.7% live in Kent County and 11.3% live in Sussex County. The state capital, Dover, is located in Kent County. Also located in Kent County is Dover Air Force Base, a major logistical anchor for the U.S. Air Force and the Armed Services Mortuary Service. Sussex County is known for its agriculture and broiler-chicken industry, as well as its beautiful Atlantic coast beaches.

Delaware is known for its historic waterfront, the duPont family mansions, beaches, fishing, chicken farming, and favorable tax laws.

## Executive Summary

This report presents information about the health, wellness, disabilities, secondary health conditions, and lifestyles of adults with disabilities in Delaware. Information from 339 adults with physical, sensory, cognitive and learning disabilities, and mental health conditions was collected from May to December 2006. The sample of participants was collected through service enrollment lists, referrals, and outreach to community organizations and provides insight into the well-being of adults with disabilities in Delaware.

### **Demographic Information**

Of the 339 participants who answered the survey, more than one-third (36.0%) had a physical disability. The second most represented group in the sample was persons with cognitive and learning disabilities (24.2%), followed by those with visual impairments (19.8%). Almost eleven percent (10.9%) of the sample had a hearing impairment and just over nine percent (9.1%) reported having a mental health condition.

A majority of respondents lived in New Castle County (70.2%). Nineteen percent of the respondents lived in Kent County and 10.7% of the respondents lived in Sussex County. A majority of the respondents were female (52.4%) and the average age of the participants was 48 years. Just over 68% of the sample were Caucasian while 22.6% reported their race as African American and 4.5% reported their ethnicity as Hispanic/Latino.

Of the 339 respondents of the survey, more than 40% reported completing high school. Twenty percent (20.2%) stated they had not completed high school and almost 17.0% reported graduating from college. Only 34.2% of the respondents reported they were employed. Another 15.5% reported that they were unemployed and 27.4% reported they were unable to work. A majority (54.7%) reported that their annual income was less than \$15,000 and 67.1% reported that their annual incomes were less than \$25,000.

### General Health and Secondary Health Conditions

When asked about their overall health, a majority of the survey respondents reported that their health was "fair" or "poor." Individuals with mental health conditions reported the highest level of "fair" and "poor" health perception (80.6%).

Just over 47% of the respondents reported having high cholesterol and just over 45% reported having high blood pressure. These rates are greater than for the



general Delaware population. Almost 40% of the sample reported having arthritis; again, this is a higher rate than for the general Delaware population. Respondents with physical disabilities and vision impairments were the most likely to report having arthritis. Finally, just under 21% of all respondents reported having diabetes.

### Lifestyle and Preventative Health Care

Almost all of the respondents (97.0%) reported having a primary health care provider and 91.4% reported receiving regular check-ups from the provider. However, a significant number of respondents acknowledged challenges to obtaining health care. These included lack of transportation to health care services (16.5%), difficulty accessing buildings where health care was provided (11.3%), the cost of health care services (10.8%), being able to access health care equipment (9.2%) and health care services not being available (6.0%).

The respondents were asked questions about preventative health care. A majority of men over 39 years of age (57.5%) reported having had a prostate-specific antigen (PSA) test and almost 70% reported having had a digital rectal exam sometime during their lives. Just over 81% of the women reported having had a mammogram and almost 90% reported having had a clinical breast examination and just over 91% of the women reported having had at least one pap exam. Of all participants age 50 or older, 62.0% reported having had a colonoscopy or a sigmoidoscopy to screen for colon cancer.

When reporting on their diet and exercise habits, 38.9% of the respondents stated that they ate the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) recommended daily servings of fruits and vegetables. Just under 21% percent of the respondents reported participating in recommended levels of daily physical activity. The large majority of respondents (72.3%) reported being overweight or obese. Those individuals with physical impairments (57.9%) and hearing impairments (54.5%) were the most likely to not participate in recommended levels of physical activity.

Nineteen percent (19.0%) of the survey respondents reported that they were current smokers. This is similar to the percentage of smokers in the overall Delaware population. During the past year, almost half (47.8%) of those respondents who reported being smokers tried to quit at least for one day. Persons with mental health conditions were the group of respondents most likely to smoke (45.2%).

Just over 32% of the respondents reporting having had an alcoholic drink during

the past 30 days. This percentage is substantially lower than for the general population of Delaware who report having had an alcoholic drink during the past 30 days (57.0%). Of the sub-groups in the sample for this survey, the percentage reporting having had an alcoholic drink within the past 30 months varied widely. Persons with hearing impairments and vision impairments (55.6% and 44.3% respectively) had the highest reported percentage of having had an alcoholic drink during the past 30 days. Persons with mental health conditions and cognitive disabilities (29.6% and 15.4% respectively) had the lowest reported percentages.

Over half of the respondents (52.5%) answered questions about their sexual activity. Of those answering, 37.6% reported that they had engaged in sexual activity within the past year. Almost 32% of those answering the questions reported having had at least one new sexual partner within the past year. Approximately 58% of those who reported being sexually active had participated in oral sex and 83.1% of those reporting being sexually active engaged in sexual intercourse during the past year. Persons with mental health conditions and hearing impairments were the most likely to report being engaged in sexual activities (52.6% and 52.9% respectively) and persons with cognitive disabilities were the least likely to report having engaged in sexual activities during the past year (26.2%). Of all of the respondents reporting they were sexually active, only 32.7% reported using a condom during their last sexual encounter. Of those who did use a condom, 20.0% reported that they used a condom to prevent pregnancy, 20.0% reported that they used a condom to avoid sexually transmitted diseases, and 60.0% reported they used a condom for both reasons. Almost 74.0% of those respondents who reported being sexually active stated that they thought condoms were either "effective" or "somewhat effective" at protecting against HIV.

Respondents were also asked about being victims of sexual assault. Of all the women answering the question, 30.8% reported having been sexually assaulted and 27.0% reported having experienced an attempted sexual assault. Of all the men answering the question, 7.7% reported having been sexually assaulted and 11.3% reported having experienced an attempted sexual assault. Men and women with mental health conditions had the highest rates of reported sexual assault.

Those reporting sexual assaults or attempted sexual assaults identified a wide variety of perpetrators. These included acquaintances, neighbors or other non-relatives (22.4%), former significant others (19.0%), and strangers (17.2%).

### Wellness

The respondents were asked about their satisfaction with their lives. A large ma-

jority of the respondents indicated they were "very satisfied" or "satisfied" with their lives (80.4%). Almost 20% indicated that they were "dissatisfied" or "very dissatisfied" with their lives. Individuals with mental health conditions reported the highest percentage of being "dissatisfied" or "very dissatisfied" with their lives (32.3%).

When asked about receiving necessary supports and services, 70.0% of the respondents stated that they "always" or "usually" received the social and emotional supports they needed. A small percentage of respondents (5.6%) reported "rarely" or "never" receiving the social and emotional supports they needed. The groups most likely to report they "rarely" or "never" received the supports they needed were individuals with hearing impairments (10.8%) and individuals with mental health conditions (9.7%).

A majority of the respondents (56.8%) reported that they either "constantly" or "at least once a day" think about their disabilities. Just over 18% of the respondents reported "never" thinking about their disabilities. When asked about how they were treated by others at work, 80.5% of the respondents stated they were treated "the same as" or "better than others" and 81.0% reported they were treated "the same as" or "better than others" when seeking health care. Almost nine percent of the respondents felt they were treated "worse than others" at work and when seeking health care. Individuals with mental health conditions reported feeling they were treated "worse than others" at work (33.3%) and when seeking health care (16.7%).

### **Care Needs**

Over 63% of respondents reported they needed help with routine tasks such as household chores and shopping and 28.4% reported they needed help with personal care activities such as eating, bathing, and dressing. Individuals with visual impairments had the highest percentage of needing help with routine tasks and persons with physical disabilities had the highest percentage of needing assistance with personal care activities. The types of personal care support reported by the survey respondents included assistance with self care (36.1%), assistance with moving around (19.6%), assistance with learning and remembering (18.0%), and assistance with seeing and hearing (16.5%).

Almost 57% of the survey respondents indicated that they needed to use special equipment because of their disabilities. Persons with hearing impairments (81.1%), with physical impairments (79.3%) and vision impairments (67.2%) were more likely to report needing to use special equipment than were persons with cognitive disabilities (18.5%) and persons with mental health conditions (16.1%).

### **Caregiver Needs**

The survey respondents were asked if they had assistance from a caregiver and what their relationship was to the caregiver, if they had one. Of those respondents who had one or more caregivers, the majority of respondents identified their caregivers as family members (61.4%) such as parents, adult children, and/or siblings. Thirty-one percent of the caregivers working with respondents were paid professional staff. Other relatives and friends comprised 7.6% of the caregivers of the respondents.

As part of the Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 survey, if caregivers were present during the interview, they were asked a number of questions about their roles and responsibilities. Sixty-six (66) caregivers were present during the interviews and agreed to respond to questions. Of those 66 caregivers, 39.4% indicated that caregiving responsibilities did not leave enough time for themselves. Over 22% reported that their caregiving responsibilities were a financial burden for them and 12.1% reported that caregiving was a stressful activity for them. Some caregivers also reported that their responsibilities made it difficult to address their own family needs (9.1%), that caregiving interfered with their primary work responsibilities (7.6%), that it affected their family relationships (6.1%), and that it aggravated their own health conditions (3.0%).

### Recommendations

The Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Project Advisory Panel reviewed the results of this survey. This report offers fourteen recommendations that address both health promotion and health awareness for persons with disabilities.

These recommendations need to be coordinated across health care service providers, human service providers, advocacy agencies, and direct service providers who work with persons with disabilities. These recommendations need to be implemented with the consultation of persons with disabilities and their families.

- 1. Develop a five-year health and wellness plan for adults with disabilities in collaboration with the Governor's Commission on Community-Based Alternatives for Individuals with Disabilities and the HDWD 2010 Advisory Panel.
- 2. Review health and wellness education, awareness, and prevention materials available from state agencies, health providers, hospitals, and other health care sources and ensure that the materials are available in formats that are accessible to all persons with disabilities.

- 3. Educate physicians and other health care providers about the importance of addressing secondary health conditions with persons with disabilities, preventing secondary health conditions, and monitoring persons with disabilities who are at risk for or have secondary health conditions.
- 4. Create a grant program for health care facilities to ensure physical and information accessibility of services for all persons with disabilities.
- 5. Develop and implement a pilot program to make dental care services available to all individuals with disabilities.
- 6. Support the general health care prevention initiatives of the Division of Public Health and work with the Division to ensure that disability specific information is included in prevention education materials.
- 7. Provide education and grant funding for local recreation and parks offices and private fitness centers to ensure that all recreation and fitness programs are accessible to persons with disabilities.
- 8. Develop and implement disability-specific prevention education programs to address risky health behaviors, including smoking, drink-ing, and unprotected sex.
- 9. Develop and implement health prevention education programs for direct support professionals and family caregivers.
- 10. Develop and implement disability specific health education programs to address health concerns specific to a disability group.
- 11. Develop a mandatory certification and credentialing process for direct support professionals.
- 12. Support the effective implementation of respite care programs for families of persons with disabilities.
- 13. Develop and implement a systematic data collection and analysis process, such as the State's Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS), to identify the comprehensive health and prevention needs of persons with disabilities.
- 14. Support the effective implementation of the Delaware Medicaid Buy-In program.

Delaware Health Status Report

# Introduction



The Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities (HDWD) 2010 project is a health and wellness program that focuses on the health of people with disabilities in Delaware. The project is based on the Healthy People 2010 Initiative, a national 10-year plan that sets health objectives to help federal, state, local, private, and community agencies and organizations in their efforts to promote health and wellness. The HDWD 2010 activities completed include:

- reviewing state, administrative, and general data on health and disability;
- interviewing adults with disabilities and families of children with special health care needs about their health, wellness, secondary health conditions, and lifestyles;
- developing an Advisory Panel from state, community, and advocacy organizations to act as a statewide health and disability resource;
- promoting disability-focused health programs, including a smoking cessation program and a fitness program for adults with disabilities (in collaboration with the Yes You Can<sup>™</sup> program);
- providing training for professionals on early detection of autism (First Signs, Inc.);
- supporting the local Amputee Support Group; and
- developing a website with useful health and disability information for Delawareans [http://www.hdwd2010.com].

HDWD 2010 is coordinated and managed by the Division of Developmental Disabilities Services (DDDS), Delaware Health and Social Services (DHSS).

### Find Out More

www.hdwd2010.com www.dhss.delaware.gov/ddds/ www.dhss.delaware.gov/dhss/

www.udel.edu/cds

www.cadsr.udel.edu

The Center for Disabilities Studies (CDS) and the Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research (CADSR), both at the University of Delaware, worked with DDDS on HDWD 2010. CDS trained and supervised interviewers for the adult and childhood surveys, recruited participants for the interviews, entered survey data, and wrote reports.

> CADSR analyzed information from the adult survey and wrote a detailed technical report about the collected data (for a copy of the report visit www.hdwd2010.com).

CADSR also analyzed several years of data from Delaware's Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) survey (called a retrospective analysis) and also wrote a detailed report about this work (for a copy of the report visit www.hdwd2010.com).

HDWD 2010 was funded by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities (NCBDDD) as a cooperative agreement.

### Purpose of the Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Project

The purpose of HDWD 2010 is to address the issues highlighted in Chapter 6 "Disability and Secondary Conditions" of the Healthy People 2010 Initiative. Delaware is one of 16 states to receive federal funds to address this focus area.

### Mission of the Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Project

The mission of HDWD 2010 is to improve the lives of Delawareans with disabilities by emphasizing health promotion and wellness. HDWD 2010 activities promote this mission by:

- increasing knowledge about factors that affect the health and wellness of people with disabilities and contribute to illnesses and secondary health conditions;
- producing disability specific health promotion and awareness programs; and
- providing technical assistance to interested partners.

### Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Project Goals

The two main goals of the national *Healthy People 2010 Initiative* are to increase quality and years of healthy life and to eliminate health disparities among subgroups of people. The HDWD project has five goals:

- 1) To increase statewide knowledge about factors that affect the health and wellness of people with disabilities and that contribute to illnesses and secondary health conditions.
- 2) To develop a statewide Advisory Panel to promote health and wellness for people with disabilities.
- 3) To develop the Advisory Panel into a statewide resource for technical assistance on issues of health and wellness for people with disabilities.
- 4) To produce a report on the health and wellness of people with disabilities.
- 5) To develop several health and wellness programs for people with disabilities.



Delaware Health Status Report

# Methodology



#### **Reason for Survey**

The Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities (HDWD) 2010 project sought to learn more about health, wellness, secondary health conditions, and lifestyles of adults with disabilities in Delaware. One method to collect information about health conditions is to examine data from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS). Each state in the U.S. systematically conducts the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's Behavior Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) survey to track health conditions and risk behaviors in the state's general population. While the BRFSS is a widely used population-based tracking system, it does not include adults who cannot participate in a phone survey or who live in institutions such as mental health or health care facilities. This means there is no information about health conditions and risk behaviors for significant portions of the population of persons with disabilities in Delaware. This also means that the BRFSS may underrepresent adults with hearing impairments, cognitive or learning disabilities, and mental health conditions due to the difficulty of collecting information through telephone interviews from these groups.

Upon review of previously collected BRFSS data, the HDWD 2010 project, in coordination with the Department of Public Health (DPH) and the Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research (CADSR), added two disability related questions to the BRFSS survey for fiscal year 2006. The 16.0% of BRFSS participants who were identified as having a disability were also asked about their primary impairment or health condition. The majority reported they had a physical disability. Adults with sensory impairments, such as difficulties seeing or hearing, and adults with mental health conditions were also represented. However, no adults with cognitive disabilities were represented in the survey. This analysis indicated that the BRFSS survey does not reach the full range of adults with disabilities in Delaware. In order to obtain more detailed information about health, wellness, secondary health conditions and lifestyle of adults with disabilities, the HDWD 2010 survey was created to address topics that were of interest to Delaware.

### **Preparation for Study**

To increase knowledge about factors that affect health and wellness of people with disabilities and to learn about a wider variety of people in this group, the HDWD 2010 project developed a survey to collect this information for Delawareans with disabilities. The survey was based on some of the BRFSS survey questions with additions and modifications suggested by stakeholder groups and the HDWD 2010 Advisory Panel. The HDWD 2010 adult survey was designed for use with adults with all types of disabilities including individuals with cognitive disabilities and mental health conditions. In addition, adults with disabilities who live in residential facilities and group homes were also included.

### **Survey Participants**

Individuals who identified themselves as having a physical disability, cognitive or learning disability, sensory impairment, or mental health condition and were 18 years or older could participate in the survey. The survey sample was recruited through service enrollment lists, referrals, health fairs, and outreach to community organizations in Delaware.

The original goal for data collection was 900 respondents, three hundred from the groups of adults with physical, cognitive, and sensory disabilities. Once data collection began, it became apparent to the HDWD 2010 Advisory Panel that persons with mental health conditions also needed to be included in the data collection.

As with most survey research with targeted populations, challenges occurred identifying and collecting data. Through the diligent efforts of advocacy groups, disability specific support groups, independent living centers and the efforts of many other organizations, a total of 540 adults with disabilities were identified and 339 individuals interviewed (37.6% of the expected 900 respondents).

### **Data Collection**

To collect information about Delawareans with disabilities, the *Adult Survey on Health, Disabilities, and Quality of Life* was developed. The survey was based on the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's Behavior Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) survey.

The survey was developed by the Management Team of the HDWD 2010 project and approved by the HDWD 2010 Advisory Panel. The Human Subject Review Board of Delaware Health and Social Services (DHSS) reviewed the survey and granted permission to conduct the survey with adult Delawareans with disabilities. The approval notice from the Human Subjects Review Board was received on September 27, 2005.

In December of 2005, Delaware community members with an interest in disabili-



ties and some experience within social services were trained to conduct the adult survey in-person or by telephone.

Participants for the survey were recruited through state service enrollment lists, referrals, and outreach to community organizations. Staff of state agencies reviewed their registries and called individuals (or their residential facility or legal guardian) to ask permission to send their contact information to the Center for Disabilities Studies (CDS). If individuals agreed, this information was sent to CDS. Additional participants recruited through community outreach activities completed sign-up sheets. Contact information for potential participants was entered into a password protected Microsoft ACCESS database. A

pants completed the survey (62.8%).

HDWD's Adult Survey posed 134 questions about:

- general health status and secondary health
   Tr
   conditions:
  - access and barriers to health care;
    preventative health care;
  - nutrition, physical activity, and obesity;
    - social and emotional health;
      - cigarette smoking and alcohol consumption;
        - sexual activity;
    - frequency of sexual assault; and
      - caregiving.

Trained interviewers scheduled and conducted in person or telephone surveys with participants. Interviewers collected information between May and December of 2006. Interviews lasted from 30 to 90 minutes and were held at a location chosen by the participants or by phone. Participants were sent \$15.00 for their participation after they completed the interview.

total of 540 adults with disabilities were recruited and 339 partici-

### Data Analysis

Data from completed surveys were entered into a computer database by CDS staff. CDS sent the final database to the Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research (CADSR). CADSR then analyzed the data and wrote the technical report (for a copy of the report visit www.hdwd2010.com).

The data was analyzed between January and March of 2007. CADSR used the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS 14.0) to analyze the data. Basic descriptive statistics were calculated. The technical report by CADSR about the findings from the adult survey was completed in March 2007. The final report was completed in June 2007 by CDS.

### **Challenges and Strengths**

Due to the challenges of collecting information about persons with disabilities, there are a number of limitations to the information presented in this report. First, the individuals who responded to these interviews were not selected randomly. They were recruited from service delivery lists or through advertisements and outreach. While this does not diminish the importance of their responses in any way, it does introduce the risk of bias to the sample. A second caution about the data reported here is that it may not be representative of all adults with disabilities in the state because of the recruitment process.

While caution should be taken when interpreting the information in this report, this is one of the first times that a comprehensive group of adults with disabilities in Delaware has been asked about their health, wellness and health care access experiences. One of the strengths of the data collected for this survey is the representation of various subgroups of adults with disabilities such as those with intellectual disabilities, mental health conditions, and adults living in residential facilities, who have not been included in other population-based health surveys, such as the BRFSS.

In this report, findings summarizing knowledge about health, wellness, secondary health conditions, and lifestyles of Delawareans with disabilities from the *Adult Survey on Health, Disabilities, and Quality of Life* are presented. In addition, other sources were used to illustrate findings or to provide a context for findings.



Delaware Health Status Report

# Health, Wellness & Lifestyle Findings



### **Demographic Information**

### **Disability Status**

Respondents were asked to identify the primary health condition or disability they consider to be their most significant disability or health condition.

The 339 participants reported five types of disabilities. More than one-third of individuals (36.0%) reported a physical disability, followed by individuals with cognitive or learning disabilities (24.2%). Almost 20% reported having a vision impairment and 10.9% reported having a hearing impairment. Individuals with mental health conditions<sup>\*</sup> represented 9.1% of the sample (see Figure 1).

In comparison to the individuals responding to the BRFSS surveys and indicating they have a disability, the HDWD 2010 adult survey has a smaller percentage of participants with physical disabilities and greater representation of individuals with sensory disorders. The rate of individuals with mental health conditions was approximately the same. The HDWD 2010 adult survey had over 24% respondents with cognitive and learning disabilities. The BRFSS survey had no respondents with cognitive or learning disabilities. See Figure 2 for the distribution of disability types of the respondents of the BRFSS surveys.



Figure 1. Primary disability of the Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Project Health Risks Survey sample Mental Health Condition



<sup>\*</sup>In this report, the definition "mental health conditions" will encompass all survey participants that reported in the HDWD 2010 survey that they have "depression, anxiety, or emotional impairment."



Figure 2. Primary disability as reported by respondents in the BRFSS sample who disclosed that they had a disability

### County, Gender, Race/Ethnicity, and Age

Interviewers asked the HDWD 2010 survey participants demographic questions, such as their county of residence, their race/ethnicity, and their age. Survey participants were from all three Delaware counties. Most of the survey participants were from New Castle County (70.2%), followed by Kent County (19.0%) and Sussex County (10.7%). These numbers approximate the population distribution of Delaware.

A majority of survey participants were female (52.4%), which also approximates Delaware's population's distribution. The mix of men and women in the various disability groups was similar. The one exception was respondents with vision impairments where 62.7% of the respondents were women.

The largest racial/ethnic group in the survey was Caucasian (68.2%), followed by African American/Black (22.6%) and Hispanic/Latino (4.5%). These numbers are similar to Delaware's overall population.

The average age of the survey participants was approximately 48 years. The average age of respondents with vision impairments was 56 years. Participants with cognitive or learning disabilities were youngest; on average they were 38 years old. Table 1 illustrates the findings regarding county residence, gender, race/ethnicity, and age.

Source: Retrospective Analysis of Delaware Data from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, Center for Applied Demography & Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>4</sup>

26

	Hearing Impairment (%)	Vision Impairment (%)	Physical Disability (%)	Mental Health Condition (%)	Cognitive or Learning Disability (%)	Total (%)
County (n=337)						
Kent	27.0	14.9	20.8	12.9	18.5	19.0
New Castle	64.9	67.2	68.3	74.2	76.5	70.2
Sussex	8.1	17.9	10.8	12.9	4.9	10.7
Gender (n=338)						
Male	48.6	37.3	45.1	48.4	59.3	47.6
Female	51.4	62.7	54.9	51.6	40.7	52.4
Race/Ethnicity (n=337)						
Caucasian/White	64.9	68.7	62.0	77.4	75.3	68.2
Black/African American	27.0	25.4	24.0	19.4	17.3	22.6
Other Non-White*	5.4	1.5	5.8		7.4	4.7
Hispanic/Latino	2.7	4.5	8.3	3.2		4.5
Age (n=339)						
18 - 24	13.5	3.0	8.2	16.1	24.4	12.4
25 - 34		7.5	6.6	19.4	14.6	9.1
35 - 44	21.6	11.9	18.9	22.6	24.4	19.5
45 - 54	32.4	22.4	25.4	16.1	28.0	25.4
55 - 64	13.5	22.4	25.4	12.9	6.1	17.7
65 and Older	18.9	32.8	15.6	12.9	2.4	15.9
Average Age (in Years)	50.1	56.4	50.4	42.5	38.2	47.9

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of survey respondents, by primary disability

\*All other non-White (including multi-racial)

Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

### Education, Employment, and Income

HDWD 2010 survey participants were asked about their level of education attainment. About twenty percent (20.2%) of participants reported having earned less than a high school diploma and more than 40% listed high school as their highest level of education (40.8%). Overall, 16.6% of participants graduated from college. Individuals with hearing impairments reported having earned the highest percentage of college degrees (24.3%) followed by adults with vision impairments (22.7%). Delawareans with cognitive or learning disabilities were the group least likely to have graduated from college (8.1%).

HDWD 2010 survey participants were also asked about their employment status. Only 34.2% of participants said they were employed. A large minority reported they were either unemployed (15.5%) or were unable to work (27.4%). Individuals with mental health conditions reported the highest unemployment rate (29.0%). Individuals with hearing impairments reported the highest employment rate (48.6%), followed by individuals with cognitive or learning disabilities (46.9%).

Survey participants also reported on their annual income. More than half (54.7%) of participants reported earning less than \$15,000 a year. This number was highest for people with mental health conditions (78.3%), followed by people with cognitive disabilities or learning disabilities (71.4%). Figure 3 illustrates the percentage of respondents with yearly household incomes of less than \$25,000 for each disability group.

Participants in the HDWD survey showed a relatively low educational level (61% reported a high school diploma or less), a majority were unemployed or unable to work, and more than half of the participants earned less than \$15,000 a year.

27

Figure 3. Percent of survey respondents reporting annual household income less than \$25,000, by primary disability



Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

### **General Health and Secondary Health Conditions**

### Health Status

A majority of survey participants felt that their general health was "fair" to "poor" and almost 47% could not participate in their usual activities in the last month because of poor health.

28

Respondents were also asked about their health. Almost 40% said their health was "good" to "excellent," while more than 60% felt their health was "fair" to "poor" (see Figure 4). In the general Delaware population, only 13.0% described their health as "fair" to "poor."<sup>5</sup> Individuals with mental health conditions (80.6%) and individuals with physical disabilities (73.8%) were more likely to say their health was "fair" to "poor" than individuals in any other group (see Figure 5).

For 46.4% of respondents, poor health prevented them from going about their usual activities during the 30 days prior to the interview. Again, respondents with physical disabilities and mental health conditions were the most likely to say that their condition affected their usual activities (64.8% and 61.3% respectively).



Figure 4. Perceived health status of survey respondents

Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>



Figure 5. Self-reported health status of survey respondents, by primary disability



### Secondary Health Conditions

Survey participants were asked about a variety of secondary health conditions. Secondary health conditions are physical, mental, or social disorders that can be prevented. They can occur as a direct or indirect result of a primary disability or health condition. Secondary health conditions reported in this survey include high cholesterol, high blood pressure, heart conditions, diabetes, asthma, and arthritis (see Figure 6).

High blood pressure, high cholesterol, arthritis, and diabetes were significant health issues and were more prominent among the survey participants than among the general Delaware population.



Figure 6. Secondary health conditions of survey respondents

29

According to the American Heart Association, nearly one in three U.S. adults has high blood pressure.<sup>6</sup> Also, 36.6 million Americans have cholesterol levels of 240mg/dL, which is considered high cholesterol. Both conditions increase the risk for heart disease and stroke. In this survey, 47.1% of participants reported having high cholesterol and 45.1% reported having high blood pressure. In contrast to individuals with disabilities, only 28.0% of the general Delaware population reported high blood pressure and only 38.9% stated that they have high cholesterol (see Figure 7).

Figure 7. Comparison of percent of high cholesterol and high blood pressure rates in the general Delaware population and Delawareans who participated in the HDWD survey



Sources: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware;<sup>3</sup> Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Delaware BRFSS Data 2005<sup>5</sup>

> Problems with high cholesterol and high blood pressure were most prominent among respondents with vision impairments, the group with the oldest average age of any of the respondent groups. Individuals with cognitive and learning disabilities, the group with the youngest reported age of disability specific groups, reported the lowest rates of high cholesterol and high blood pressure.

Survey participants were also asked if they had arthritis. According to the BRFSS 2005, 29.2% of the overall Delaware adult population has arthritis.<sup>5</sup> Of all HDWD 2010 respondents 38.9% reported that they have arthritis. Individuals with physical disabilities were most likely to report they have arthritis followed by individuals with vision impairments. People with cognitive or learning disabilities were least likely to report having arthritis. Because the group of individuals with vision impairments is the oldest age group in the survey and individuals with cognitive or learning disabilities is the youngest, the larger number of individuals reporting arthritis rates for the general Delaware population (BRFSS data) and for people with disabilities.



Figure 8. Comparison of percent of arthritis rates in the general Delaware population and Delawareans who participated in the HDWD survey



Diabetes is another common secondary health condition. Of the HDWD 2010 survey participants 20.5% of participants reported they have diabetes. The 2005 BRFSS data indicated that 8.6% of the Delaware population has diabetes (Figure 9). Of the individuals who reported they have diabetes, a majority (68.7%) indicated they check their blood sugar levels at least once a day. However, the groups of individuals with hearing impairments (50.0%) and vision impairments (47.8%) are less likely to check their levels daily than individuals in other disability groups.

HDWD 2010 survey participants were also asked if they have ever had or currently have asthma. Among the survey respondents, 8.3% reported that their doctor or health care provider told them they have asthma. This is similar to the 8.5% reported level of asthma for the general Delaware population from the BRFSS 2005 survey.<sup>5</sup>



Figure 9. Comparison of percent of diabetes rates in the general Delaware population and Delawareans who participated in the HDWD survey

Sources: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware;<sup>3</sup> Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Delaware BRFSS Data 2005<sup>5</sup>

HDWD 2010 survey respondents were also asked if they have heart disease or if they ever had a heart attack or stroke. Of the sample for this survey, 7.4% reported having had coronary heart disease, 5.0% reported having had a heart attack in their lifetime, and 6.5% reported having had a stroke.

### Lifestyle and Preventative Health Care

The HDWD 2010 survey also collected information about the lifestyles and health care issues of individuals with disabilities. Survey questions asked about access to health care providers and services, barriers experienced in accessing care, exercise habits, drinking, smoking, and sexual behaviors.

### Preventative Health Care and Access to Care

While or h most survey participants reported that they have access to health care providers and receive regular check-ups, some experienced challenges in accessing care, such as lack of transportation, cost of services, and inaccessible buildings and equipment.

Almost all survey participants (97.0%) reported that they have a personal doctor or health care provider. Most (91.4%) also said that they had a routine checkup within the past year. Despite such a high number of participants having providers and receiving check-ups, participants also experienced challenges with services. Barriers that prevented individuals from visiting a health care provider included lack of transportation (16.5%), which was particularly true for individuals with mental health conditions, and cost of services (10.8%) (see Figure 10).



Figure 10. Barriers encountered by survey respondents when trying to see a doctor or other health care provider in the past year

Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

Access to buildings (11.3%) and equipment (9.2%), which was particularly true for individuals with physical disabilities, and the availability of services that were needed (6.0%), which was mostly reported by individuals with hearing impairments, also hindered visiting health care providers (see Figure 11).



Figure 11.Types of challenges encountered among survey respondents when seeking health care in the past year

Participants were also asked about preventative dental visits. Participants were asked if and when they had last seen a dentist. A large majority (75.7%) said they had seen a dentist within the past two years, and 73.8% reported having had their teeth cleaned by a dentist or dental hygienist. These rates are similar to those from the 2004 BRFSS survey, in which 77.2% of the general Delaware population said that they had visited the dentist or dental clinic within the past year for any reason.<sup>7</sup> Despite these promising findings, there were still almost a quarter (24.3%) of individuals with disabilities who reported not receiving regular dental care (see Figure 12).

Almost a quarter of survey respondents do not receive regular dental care.

33





Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

#### Preventative Men's and Women's Health

For prevention and early detection of some illnesses, it is important to conduct medical screenings, tests and exams on a regular basis. For men, the Prostate-Specific Antigen (PSA) test and the digital rectal exam are recommended to screen for prostate cancer. For women, clinical breast exams and mammograms are recommended to screen for breast cancer and the pap test (also called pap smear) is recommended to screen for cervical cancer. For both women and men over the age of 50 years, a colonoscopy or sigmoidoscopy is recommended to screen for cervical cancer.

Recommendations about when and if men should have a PSA test or digital rectal exam vary; however, according to the National Cancer Institute (NCI), Medicare provides coverage for annual exams for men 50 years and older.<sup>8</sup> In this survey, men age 39 and older were asked if they ever had a PSA test and digital rectal exam and when it occurred. More than half (57.5%) reported they had a PSA test and 69.7% said they had a digital rectal exam at some point in their lifetime (see Table 2). For most men, the PSA test (77.0%) and digital rectal exam (59.7%) were conducted within the past year.

Despite many po women and men reporting that they receive preventative health care, more awareness about the importance of regular check-ups, such as Prostate-Specific Antigen (PSA) tests, pap smears, breast exams, and colonoscopies, is needed. CE

It is recommended by the American Cancer Society that women age 20 and older have clinical breast exams at least every three years and women age 40 and older every year.<sup>9</sup> The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS),<sup>10</sup> the National Cancer Institute (NCI),<sup>11</sup> and the American Medical Association (AMA)<sup>12</sup> recommend screening mammograms every year for women age 40 and

older. If there is a history of breast cancer in the family, clinical breast exams and mammograms may be recommended more frequently. In the HDWD 2010 survey, 81.1% of all women said that they have had a mammogram at some point in their lifetime and 89.8% reported that they have had at least one clinical breast exam in their lifetime (see Table 2). The groups least likely to have had a mammogram were women with mental health conditions (62.5%) and women with cognitive or learning disabilities (62.5%). While these numbers show that a large majority of women receive regular gynecological check-ups, they also illustrate that over 10% of women across disability groups have not received this preventative care.

35

Table 2. Preventative health care among survey respondents

	Hearing Impairment (%)	Vision Impairment (%)	Physical Disability (%)	Mental Health Condition (%)	Cognitive or Learning Disability (%)	Total (%)
Men's Health*						
Ever had a PSA Test (n=107)	60.0	78.9	59.5	60.0	36.0	57.5
Within Past Year	88.9	86.7	68.2	66.7	77.8	77.0
Within the Past 2 Years		6.7	22.7	16.7		11.5
Within Past 5 Years	11.1		4.5		22.2	6.6
5 or More Years Ago		6.7	4.5	16.7		4.9
Ever had a Digital Rectal Exam						
(n=109)	60.0	80.0	73.7	80.0	57.7	69.7
Within Past Year	77.8	56.3	58.3	44.4	64.3	59.7
Within the Past 2 Years	11.1	37.5	25.0	33.3	7.1	23.6
Within Past 5 Years	11.1		16.7	11.1	7.1	9.7
5 or More Years Ago		6.3		11.1	21.4	6.9
Diagnosed with Prostate Cancer						
(n=113)	6.7	5.3	2.4		3.6	3.5
Women's Health						
Ever had a Mammogram (n=175)	73.7	90.5	90.9	62.5	62.5	81.1
Ever had a Clinical Breast Exam						
(n=175)	94.7	90.5	90.9	93.8	81.8	89.8
Ever had a Pap Test (n=152)	100	95.2	89.4	93.8	84.8	91.4
Within Past Year	77.8	65.8	61.4	73.3	83.3	69.1
Within the Past 2 Years	16.7	10.5	17.5	6.7	8.3	13.2
Within Past 5 Years	5.6	13.2	8.8	20.0	4.2	9.9
5 or More Years Ago		10.5	12.3		4.2	7.9

\*Asked only of male survey respondents > 39 years old

Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

36

The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services recommends that women age 21 years and older have regular pap tests.<sup>13</sup> Women respondents were asked if they have ever had a pap test and when it occurred. Of all women who answered this question, 91.4% reported that they have had a pap test at some point in their lifetime and 82.3% stated that they have had it within the past two years (see Table 2). For 17.8% of all women, the last pap test occurred five years ago or longer and almost 9% reported that they have never had a pap test.

Men and women who were 50 years and older were asked if they have ever had a colonoscopy or sigmoidoscopy to screen for colon cancer. Sixty-two percent (62.0%) of all men and women over 50 years in the HDWD 2010 survey reported they have had this test done at some point during their lifetime, 61.6% within the past two years (see Figure 13). In the 2004 Delaware BRFSS survey, 62.0% of the general Delaware population of men and women 50 years and older reported that they have had a colonoscopy or sigmoidoscopy done to screen for colon cancer.<sup>7</sup> Almost 40% of both the general population and adults with disabilities reported that they do not receive colonoscopies as part of their preventative health care.



Figure 13. Percent of survey respondents who have ever had a sigmoidoscopy or colonoscopy

Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

### Diet and Exercise Habits

Diet and exercise influence the overall health of individuals. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) recommend that people eat five servings of fruits and vegetables a day and that individuals participate in moderate-intensity activities such as a brisk walk for at least 30 minutes a day, five times a week, or participate in vigorous-intensity activities such as running on a treadmill or stair walking for at least 30 minutes a day, three days per week.

Respondents of the HDWD 2010 survey were asked about the amount of vegetables and fruits they eat per day and their exercising habits. Only 38.9% of respondents reported that they eat the recommended amount of fruits and vegetables. Also, 49.7% of survey participants stated that they engage in little to no physical activity on a regular basis and only 20.8% reported that they engage in sufficient physical activity. The groups least likely to participate in physical activities were individuals with physical disabilities (57.9%) and individuals with hearing impairments (54.5%).

Many of the HDWD 2010 participants (72.3%) reported they are overweight or obese. Individuals with vision impairments were most likely to report being overweight or obese (81.0%), followed by individuals with mental health conditions (77.4%), and people with hearing impairments (72.3%). When examining obesity alone, participants who have mental health conditions were most likely to be obese (48.4%) followed by individuals who have a cognitive or learning disability.

Almost 50% of survey respondents do not engage in any type of physical activity.

At the same time, most participants are obese or overweight.

The majority of individuals with disabilities who participated in the HDWD survey do not eat enough fruits and vegetables.

Though a majority of respondents reported that they are overweight or obese, only 38.3% reported that they have received advice from their doctors about their weight and only 53.7% stated that they are currently trying to lose weight. (See Table 3 for a summary of eating, physical activity, and weight characteristics of the HDWD 2010 respondents.)

	Hearing Impairment (%)	Vision Impairment (%)	Physical Disability (%)	Mental Health Condition (%)	Cognitive or Learning Disability (%)	Total (%)
Weight Status* (n=328)						
Neither Overweight nor Obese	27.8	19.0	31.9	22.6	30.4	27.7
Overweight	41.7	42.9	26.1	29.0	25.3	31.1
Obese	30.6	38.1	42.0	48.4	44.3	41.2
Received advice from Doctor about Weight (n=339)	27.0	34.3	37.7	35.5	48.8	38.3
Physical Activity (n=312) Meets CDC Recommendations for						
Physical Activity Insufficient Activity to meet CDC Recommendations for	18.2	22.6	14.0	14.8	32.9	20.8
Physical Activity	27.3	25.8	28.1	48.1	28.9	29.5
No physical activity	54.5	51.6	57.9	37.0	38.2	49.7
Weight Control Currently Trying to Lose Weight (n=337)	51.4	55.2	49.6	64.5	55.6	53.7
Trying to Maintain Current Weight (n=338)	70.3	86.6	66.9	83.9	70.7	73.7
Changed Diet to Try to Lose or Maintain Current Weight (n=339) Engaging in Physical Activity or Exercise to	56.8	67.2	49.2	67.7	59.8	57.8
lower or keep from gaining weight (n=337)	39.9	34.3	29.8	54.8	53.7	39.8
Consumes the Recommended Daily Allowance of Fruits and Vegetables per Day**	34.3	45.2	33.3	30.0	48.6	38.9

Table 3. Eating habits, physical activity levels, and weight issues of survey respondents, by primary disability

\*Weight status is measured by the Body Mass Index (BMI); Formula: weight (Ib) / [height (in)] $2 \times 703$ 

\*\* >= 5 servings of fruits and vegetables per day

Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

### Smoking and Drinking Habits

Smoking is associated with many health risks and may negatively affect a person's health. Between 1997 and 2001, cigarette smoking caused 438,000 deaths each year and, on average, smoking reduced life expectancy by approximately 14 years.<sup>14</sup> Most deaths of smokers occurred from lung cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and heart disease.

Delaware 2005 BRFSS information found that 20.6% of the general Delaware population reported being smokers<sup>5</sup>, similar to the findings among Delawareans with disabilities. In the HDWD 2010 survey, 19.0% of all participants reported that they are smokers and 23.5% reported that they were former smokers (see Figure 14). Fifty-seven percent (57.4%) stated that they never smoked in their lifetime. Of all respondents who smoked, 47.8% reported that they tried to stop smoking for one or more days during the last year. Individuals with mental health conditions (45.2%), followed by individuals with hearing impairments (21.6%), were most likely to report that they were current smokers. Individuals with cognitive or learning disabilities (11.1%) and with vision impairments (12.1%) were least likely to report that they smoked.

Of all survey participants, 19% are current smokers though almost 49% of all smokers tried to quit smoking within the last year.

Drinking was less prominent in the survey sample than in the general Delaware population; however, drinking rates varied considerably for different disability groups.

39

Figure 14. Smoking status and alcohol consumption among survey respondents



Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

Delaware 2005 BRFSS data indicated that 57.0% of adults in the general Delaware population have had at least one alcoholic drink within the last 30 days.<sup>5</sup> The percentage of individuals with disabilities in the HDWD 2010 survey reporting they had had at least one drink within the past 30 days was much smaller (32.4%) (see Figure 14). The percentages varied considerably among disability groups. Respondents with hearing (55.6%) and vision impairments (44.3%) were much more likely to report that they consumed at least one alcoholic drink in the past 30 days than individuals with mental health conditions (29.6%) and individuals with cognitive or learning disabilities (15.4%). Of all the adults who reported that they do drink occasionally, 3.8% reported that they binge drink (five or more alcoholic drinks on any one occasion). Binge drinking was much more prominent among individuals with hearing impairments (15.2%) than any other disability group.

### Sexual Activity

Of all survey respondents who answered questions about their sexuality, 58% participated in oral sex and 83% had sexual intercourse. Only 33% used a condom during sexual activities.

Respondents of the HDWD 2010 survey were asked about their sexual activity. A total of 178 respondents (52.5% of the total sample) answered questions about their sexual history and activities. Of those 178, 37.6% reported that they had engaged in sexual activities in the past year, and 31.8% reported that they had at least one new partner within the past year. Approximately 58% of the respondents engaged in oral sex and 83.1% engaged in sexual intercourse. Individuals with mental health conditions (52.6%) and individuals with hearing impairments (52.9%) were most likely to report that they had engaged in sexual activities and individuals with cognitive or learning disabilities (26.2%) were least likely to report that they had engaged in sexual activities in the past year (see Figure 15).

> 60 52.9% 52.6% 50 45.8% 36.8% 37.6% 40 Percentage 30 26.2% 20 10 0 Hearing Vision Mental Physical Cognitive or Total Impairment Impairment Disability Health Learning Condition Disability

Figure 15. Percent of survey respondents who engaged in sexual activity in the past year, by primary disability

Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

Only 32.7% of respondents who reported being sexually active stated that they used a condom during their last sexual activity. Participants were asked why they used a condom or other protective device during their last sexual encounter. Twenty percent (20.0%) reported using condoms to prevent pregnancy, 20.0% to protect against diseases, and 60.0% reported both reasons (see Figure 16).



Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

Though only 32.7% of the sexually active HDWD 2010 respondents reported that they used a condom during sexual activities, 73.9% thought that condoms were "very effective" or "somewhat effective" in protecting against HIV.

HDWD 2010 survey participants were asked if they had ever been treated for sexually transmitted diseases. Of all respondents, 13.6% reported that they were treated for a sexually transmitted disease or infection within the past five years.

### Sexual Assault

HDWD 2010 survey participants were asked if they were ever sexually assaulted or if someone ever attempted to sexually assault them. Of all male respondents, 11.3% reported that someone had attempted to sexually assault them, and 7.7% reported that someone had sex with them without their consent. Of all female respondents, 27.0% reported that someone had attempted to sexually assault them, and 30.8% reported that someone had sex with them without their consent (see Figure 17). These are much higher 30.8% of women reported that they were sexually assaulted and almost 8% of men reported that they were sexually assaulted. percentages than for women in the general population. In the Delaware 2005 BRFSS survey, women age 18 years and older were asked if anyone had sex with them without their consent in their lifetime. Just fewer than twelve percent (11.8%) reported that someone had sex with them without their consent.<sup>15</sup>





Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

When examining sexual assault by primary disability category, respondents with mental health conditions were twice as likely to report that they had been sexually assaulted (41.4%) than any of the other disability groups (see Figure 18). Individuals with hearing impairments were the least likely to report that they had been sexually assaulted (8.6%). Individuals with mental health conditions also were most likely to report that someone had attempted to sexually assault them (35.7%). Individuals with vision impairments were least likely to report that someone had attempted to sexually assault them (14.8%).

strangers.

Survey participants who reported attempted sexual assault and sexual assault identified a wide variety of perpetrators. Perpetrators included acquaintances, neighbors or other non-relatives (22.4%), former significant others (19.0%), and complete strangers (17.2%) (see Figure 19).

43



### Figure 18. Percent of survey respondents who have been a victim of sexual assault or attempted sexual assault in their lifetime, by primary disability

Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

Figure 19. Relationship of perpetrator to survey respondent reporting that someone had sex or attempted to have sex with them without their consent in the past year



Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

### Wellness

### Satisfaction with Life and Social-Emotional Wellbeing

The HDWD 2010 participants were asked questions about their satisfaction with their lives and the quality of their lives as individuals with disabilities. Survey participants were asked about their general life satisfaction; satisfaction with the social and emotional support they receive; how often they felt sad, anxious, and restless; and how often they were full of energy within a 30-day period.

The majority of survey respondents stated that they were "very satisfied" or "satisfied" with their lives (80.4%), but almost 20% reported that they were either "dissatisfied" or "very dissatisfied" with their lives (see Figure 20). Individuals with mental health conditions (32.3%) were most dissatisfied with their lives. Individuals with vision impairments (87.9%) and cognitive or learning disabilities (87.8%) were most satisfied with their lives.





Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

45

When asked about participants' social and emotional supports, such as having friends or relatives that provide support, 70.0% reported that they always or usually received the support they need, and 24.3% reported that they sometimes received the support they need (see Figure 21). A small percentage (5.6%) reported that they rarely or never received the social and emotional support they need. The groups that were most likely to report that they rarely or never received the supports they need were individuals with hearing impairments (10.8%) and individuals with mental health conditions (9.7%).



Figure 21. Frequency of social and emotional support received by survey respondents

On average, survey respondents felt healthy and full of energy on 16.3 days within a 30-day period. Respondents reported feeling sad or depressed on 6.7 days, worried and anxious on 8.2 days, and reported not getting enough rest or sleep on 9.6 days within a 30-day period. Individuals with mental health conditions and individuals with physical disabilities reported the highest occasions of feeling sad or depressed, worried or anxious, and not getting enough rest or sleep (see Table 4). People with cognitive or learning disabilities reported the highest number of days of feeling healthy and full of energy (22.3 days).

Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

Table 4. Overall mood during the past 30 days among survey respondents

	Hearing Impairment	Vision Impairment	Physical Disability	Mental Health Condition	Cognitive or Learning Disability	Total
felt Sad, Blue or De- pressed (n=310)	6.8	5.3	7.4	12.1	4.4	6.7
Average Number of Days felt Worried, Tense, or Anxious (n=314)	6.1	7.7	9.8	10.9	6.0	8.2
Average Number of Days did not get Enough Rest or Sleep (n=320)	9.3	7.9	11.3	11.9	7.3	9.6
Average Number of Days felt Healthy and Full of Energy (n=312)	19.6	15.8	12.6	12.4	22.3	16.3

Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

### Thinking About Disability

Almost 57% of survey respondents think either constantly or at least once a day about their disability.

Survey respondents were asked if and how often they think about their disabilities (see Figure 22). A large number of participants reported that they think either constantly (30.8%) or at least once a day (26.0%) about their disabilities. Only 18.4% reported that they never think about their disabilities. The group that thinks the most about their disability (constantly or at least once a day) is individuals with mental health conditions (70.9%).



Figure 22. Percent of survey respondents who think about their disability at least once a day, by primary disability

Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

### Perceptions About How One Was Treated by Others

HDWD 2010 survey participants were asked how they felt others at work or at health care providers treated them because of their disability. Of all respondents, 80.5% stated that they were treated the same as others or better than others at work, and 81.0% felt that this was also true when seeking health care (see Table 5). On the other hand, 8.5% of participants felt that they were treated worse at work and when seeking health care. Individuals with mental health conditions were most likely to feel that they were treated worse than others at work (33.3%) or when seeking health care (16.7%).

	Hearing Impairment (%)	Vision Impairment (%)	Physical Disability (%)	Mental Health Condition (%)	Cognitive or Learning Disability (%)	Total (%)
At Work (n=118) Worse than Others	12.5		12.5	33.3	2.6	8.5
Better than Others Worse than Some/	81.3 6.3	78.3 13.0	53.1 18.8	33.3 11.1	55.3 31.6	61.0 19.5
Better than Others		8.7	15.6	22.2	10.5	11.0
care (n=321)						
Worse than Others The Same as Others	12.1 66 7	6.2 58 5	7.0 58.3	16.7 50 0	6.4 48 7	8.1 56 1
Better than Others	18.2	30.8	22.6	13.3	30.8	24.9
Worse than Some/ Better than Others	3.0	4.6	12.2	20.0	14.1	10.9

Table 5. Survey respondents' perceptions of how they were treated at work or when seeking health care

Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

Survey participants were also asked if they experienced any physical symptoms such as a headache, upset stomach, or pounding heart, or if they became emotionally upset as a result of how they were treated. In general, survey respondents reported that they experienced more emotional upsets than physical symptoms in response to the way they were treated. Sixty-one percent (61%) of participants reported that they had experienced emotional upset as a result of how others treated them and 40.4% said that they had experienced physical symptoms as a result of how others had treated them. However, the overall numbers of being physically or emotionally upset constantly or at least once a day were low (see Table 6). Table 6. Frequency in which survey respondents experienced physical symptoms or emotional upset as a result of how they were treated in the past year

	Hearing Im- pairment (%)	Vision Im- pairment (%)	Physical Dis- ability (%)	Mental Health Condition (%)	Cognitive or Learning Disability (%)	Total (%)
Physical Symptoms (e.g., headache, stomachache)						
Constantly	5.7	3.3	3 1.8	3.4		2.3
At Least Once per Day	2.9	1.6	5 7.1	6.9	5.6	5.2
At Least Once per Month	11.4	18.0	21.2	31.0	27.8	21.9
At Least Once per Year	2.9	8.2	2 11.5	27.6	9.7	11.0
Never	77.1	68.9	9 58.4	31.0	56.9	59.7
Emotional Upset						
Constantly	6.1	3.3	6.0	6.9	1.3	4.4
At Least Once per Day		3.3	3 9.4	6.9	8.0	6.7
At Least Once per Month	30.3	27.9	9 32.5	44.8	37.3	33.7
At Least Once per Year	18.2	14.8	3 20.5	20.7	8.0	16.2
Never	45.5	50.8	3 31.6	20.7	45.3	39.0

Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

### **Care Needs**

### Care Needs

Almost thirty percent (28%) of participants need assistance with eating, bathing, and dressing and 63% receive assistance with routine tasks, such as household chores and shopping.

Many individuals with disabilities need help with their personal care such as eating, bathing, and dressing, or routine care such as household chores, shopping, and other necessary business (see Figure 23). Over twenty-eight percent (28.4%) of the HDWD 2010 sample received assistance with personal care and 63.1% received assistance with routine care. Individuals with physical disabilities were most likely to report that they receive help with personal care (45.5%) followed by people with cognitive or learning disabilities (32.9%). Three of the disability groups reported relatively high numbers of receiving help with routine care; 76.9% of individuals with vision impairments, 71.6% of individuals with cognitive or learning disabilities, and 67.2% of individuals with physical disabilities.

49



Figure 23. Percent of survey respondents who received help with personal and routine care, by primary disability

HDWD 2010 survey respondents were also asked about the specific tasks, activities, or skills for which they needed help (Figure 24). Respondents reported that they needed the most help with self-care, such as eating and dressing (36.1%), followed by moving around (19.6%), learning and remembering (18.0%), and seeing and hearing (16.5%). Other needs that survey respondents identified were communicating with others, feeling anxious or depressed, and getting along with others.





Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

### Equipment

According to the Delaware 2005 BRFSS survey, 6.1% of the general population in Delaware needs some form of equipment or device due to a health problem.<sup>5</sup> In the BRFSS retrospective analysis, it was found that 5.7% of Delaware's adult population needs to use special equipment as a result of one or more health problems.<sup>4</sup> When examining different subgroups of the population, the retro-

Almost 57% of participants need special equipment to help them with their disability. spective analysis found that 26.0% of all adults who said that their activities were limited due to a health problem also needed special equipment.

In the HDWD 2010 survey, 56.7% of respondents reported that they needed special equipment due to an impairment (see Figure 25). Individuals with hearing impairments (81.1%), individuals with physical disabilities (79.3%), and individuals with vision impairments (67.2%) were much more likely to report that they required special equipment due to their disability than individuals with cognitive or learning disabilities (18.5%) and individuals with men-

dividuals with cognitive or learning disabilities (18.5%) and individuals with mental health conditions (16.1%).



Figure 25. Current requirements for the use of special equipment, by primary disability

Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

### **Caregiver Needs**

### Caregiver Demographics

Most caregivers for individuals with disabilities who participated in this survey were family members followed by paid professional caregivers.

Many individuals with disabilities rely on someone to assist and support them with personal and routine care needs. Caregivers range from family members, friends, and neighbors to professionals. The HDWD 2010 survey found that the majority of the caregivers supporting respondents of this survey were family members such as parents, adult children, and other primary family members (61.4%), followed by paid professional caregivers (31.0%), and other relatives or friends (7.6%). Figure 26 illustrates who the caregivers are and how they are divided by subgroups of family members and paid professionals.

50



Figure 26. Relationship of person who assists survey respondent needing personal assistance

Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>

### Caregiver Challenges

As part of the Health Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 survey, interviewers invited caregivers who were present at the time of the interview to answer questions about caregiving. A total of 66 caregivers agreed to answer questions about their caregiving activities. The challenge most often mentioned was that caregiving does not leave enough time for oneself (39.4%), followed by the financial burden that caregiving creates (22.7%). The stress that accompanies caregiving was mentioned by 12.1% of caregivers (see Figure 27).

Caregivers experience a lack of time for themselves, financial burden, and stress when providing care to individuals with disabilities.

51





Source: 2006 Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Survey; Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware<sup>3</sup>



Delaware Health Status Report

# Recommendations



The following recommendations are based on information collected for the HDWD 2010 survey. Despite the fact that this data is not population-based, this report indicates that significant disparities most likely exist in important areas of the health status of individuals with disabilities compared to the general population. This survey includes adults with a broader variety of disabilities than the annual BRFSS survey. For these reasons, this data and related information should be widely distributed to and studied by all public and private agencies and health care providers involved in the delivery of health care and preventative health services to Delawareans with disabilities. This consideration should include health care and human service organizations and providers who exclusively serve individuals with disabilities and those who serve both individuals with and without disabilities. The recommendations provided offer guidance and insight into helping adults with disabilities improve their ability to lead healthier lives.

Many of the recommendations can be accomplished within existing programs and resources available to the general public. The crafted recommendations need to be coordinated across health care service providers, human service providers, advocacy agencies, and direct service providers who work with persons with disabilities. These recommendations need to be implemented with the consultation of persons with disabilities and their families.

- Develop a five year health and wellness plan for adults with disabilities in collaboration with the Governor's Commission on Community-Based Alternatives for Individuals with Disabilities and the HDWD 2010 Advisory Panel.
- 2. Review health and wellness education, awareness, and prevention materials available from state agencies, health providers, hospitals, and other health care sources and ensure that the materials are available in formats that are accessible to all persons with disabilities.
- 3. Educate physicians and other health care providers about the importance of addressing secondary health conditions with persons with disabilities, preventing secondary health conditions, and monitoring persons with disabilities who are at risk for or have secondary health conditions.
- 4. Create a grant program for health care facilities to ensure physical and information accessibility of services for all persons with disabilities.
- 5. Develop and implement a pilot program to make dental care services available to all individuals with disabilities.

55

- 6. Support the general health care prevention initiatives of the Division of Public Health and work with the Division to ensure that disability specific information is included in prevention education materials.
- 7. Provide education and grant funding for local recreation and parks offices and private fitness centers to ensure that all recreation and fitness programs are accessible to persons with disabilities.
- 8. Develop and implement disability specific prevention education programs to address risky health behaviors, including smoking, drinking, and unprotected sex.
- 9. Develop and implement health prevention education programs for direct support professionals and family caregivers.
- 10. Develop and implement disability specific health education programs to address health concerns specific to a disability group.
- II. Develop a mandatory certification and credentialing process for direct support professionals.
- 12. Support the effective implementation of respite care programs for families of persons with disabilities.
- 13. Develop and implement a systematic data collection and analysis process, such as the State's Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS), to identify the comprehensive health and prevention needs of persons with disabilities.
- 14. Support the effective implementation of the Delaware Medicaid Buy-In program.



### References

<sup>1</sup> U.S. Census Bureau (2006). Population Estimates. Retrieved June 8, 2007 from http://www.census.gov/Press-Release/www/releases/archives/population/007263.html

<sup>2</sup> U.S. Census Bureau (nd). *American Fact Finder. Delaware*. Retrieved May 25, 2007 from http://factfinder.census.gov

<sup>3</sup> Gilman, L. (2007). *Healthy Delawareans with Disabilities 2010 Project Health Risks Survey Analysis.* Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware, Newark, Delaware.

<sup>4</sup> Gilman, L. (2006). *Health Risks of Adults with Disabilities in the State of Delaware: A Retrospective Analysis of Data from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System.* Center for Applied Demography and Survey Research, University of Delaware, Newark, Delaware.

<sup>5</sup> Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (nd). *Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. 2005 Delaware Data*. Retrieved March 16, 2007 from http://www.cdc.gov/brfss/

<sup>6</sup> American Heart Association (2007). *Diseases and Conditions*. Retrieved on April 19, 2007 from http://www.americanheart.org

<sup>7</sup> Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (nd). *Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. 2004 Delaware Data*. Retrieved March 16, 2007 from http://www.cdc.gov/brfss/

<sup>8</sup> National Cancer Institute (nd). *The Prostate-Specific Antigen (PSA) Test: Questions and Answers*. Retrieved on April 19, 2007 from http://www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/factsheet/D etection/PSA

 <sup>9</sup> American Cancer Society (nd). *Detailed Guide: Breast Cancer*. Retrieved on April 19, 2007 from www.cancer.org <sup>10</sup> U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2006). *Mammography*. Retrieved on April 19, 2007 from www.womenshealth.gov /faq/mammography.htm

<sup>11</sup> National Cancer Institute (nd). *Screening Mammograms: Questions and Answers.* Retrieved on April 19, 2007 from http://www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/factsheet/Detection/scree ning-mammograms

 <sup>12</sup> American Medical Association (2005). AMA Policies on Breast Cancer. Retrieved on April 19, 2007 from http://www.amaassn.org/ama/pub/category/9060.html

<sup>13</sup> U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2006). *PAP Test*. Retrieved on April 19, 2007 from www.womenshealth.gov /faq/pap.htm

<sup>14</sup> Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2007). Smoking and Tobacco Use. Fast Facts. Retrieved on April 19, 2007 from http://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/basic\_information/FastFacts.htm

<sup>15</sup> Delaware Health and Social Services. Division of Public Health. *Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System 2005 Data.* 

AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY/AFFIRMATIVE ACTION EMPLOYER The University of Delaware is committed to assuring equal opportunity to all persons and does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, gender, religion, ancestry, national origin, sexual orientation, veteran status, age, or disability in its educational programs, activities, admissions, or employment practices as required by Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the Americans with Disabilities Act, other applicable statutes, and University policy. Inquiries concerning these statutes and information regarding campus accessibility should be referred to the Affirmative Action officer, 305 Hullihen Hall, 302/831-2835 (voice), 302/831-4552 (TDD).



Center for Disabilities Studies University of Delaware 461 Wyoming Road • Newark, DE 19716 (302) 831-6974 • (302) 831-4689 TDD www.udel.edu/cds



Division of Developmental Disabilities Services Delaware Health and Social Services 24-Hour Toll Free Contact Number 1-866-552-5758 www.dhss.delaware.gov/dhss/ddds/